I N THE UNI TED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DI STRI CT OF NEBRASKA

IN THE MATTER OF

M CHAEL & MAUREENA STRONG,
CASE NO. BKO0O- 81356
Debt or (s) . A0O- 8058
STATE OF NEBRASKA ex rel .
M CHAEL LI NDER, DI RECTOR of t he
NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF

ENVI RONMENTAL QUALI TY,

Plaintiff, CH 7
VS.

M CHAEL K. STRONG,

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

Def endant .

VEMORANDUM

Heari ng was held i n Oraha, Nebraska, on August 15, 2002, on
the Plaintiff's Motion for Order of Non-Di schargeability (Fil
#38) and Resistance by the debtors (Fil. #41). John Turco
appeared for the debtor, WIIliamHow and appeared for the State
of Nebraska, and Lisa Buechl er appeared for Nebraska Depart ment
of Environmental Quality. This menorandum contains findings of
fact and conclusions of |aw required by Fed. R Bankr. P. 7052
and Fed. R Civ. P. 52. This is a core proceedi ng as defined by
28 U.S.C. 8§ 157(b)(2)(1).

This notion is essentially one for summary judgnent. The
debtor! owns and fornerly operated a tire recycling facility near

There is sone dispute between the parties concerning the
entity operating the business. The debtor contends that he
operated the business as a sole proprietorship until October
1996, and the corporate entity of Strong Tire Conpany operated
t he business thereafter. The State contends that it dealt only
with M chael Strong individually and not as a representative of
a corporation.

For purposes of this notion, which is directed only at | egal
i ssues, | need not determ ne the factual issue of the business
formin which the conpany was operated, and any reference herein

(continued...)



Wakefi el d, Nebraska. The conpany appears to have becone ensnared
in the conplex web of environnmental regul ations; the regul atory
requi rements, conmbined with the | ack of a buyer or end-user for
the recycled material, sent the business into an econoni c vortex
from which it has been unable to escape. The State, by way of
t he Departnment of Environnental Quality (“NDEQ'), seeks to force
the debtor to clean up the site, and has noved for an order
decl aring any fines, penalties, forfeitures, and/or injunctive
relief inmposed against the debtor to be non-dischargeable in
bankruptcy. The State al so wants to proceed in state court with
efforts to enforce previous court orders requiring the debtor to
renove and properly dispose of all tires and tire products and
cease all scrap-tire operations at the facility. The debtor
believes that the State is responsible in large part for the
failure of the business by refusing to approve his proposals for
selling the tires or the recycl ed product, and contends that the
St ate shoul d be permanently restrai ned, by way of his discharge,
fromtaking any further action against himto force the cl ean-up
of the site or to recover any costs of cleaning up the site.

Backar ound

The debtor began the business in 1993, apparently w thout
St ate approval. He collected used tires fromretailers in three
states. He shredded sonme of the tires, but has been unable to
find a viable market for the processed or recycled material. As
a result, whole and shredded tires remain on the site. The State
found after an adm nistrative hearing that as of October 1999
t he equivalent of sonme 948,000 tires were stored on the site.?

In 1994, the State sued the debtor in the District Court of
Di xon County for operating a solid waste managenent facility
w thout a permt, and obtained a consent decree in July 1995.
The consent decree included the provision that debtor was to

1(...continued)
to “the debtor” will enconpass whatever entity ran the conpany.

°The NDEQ director acknow edges that in the absence of
evidence as to the actual number of tires at the site, the
departnment liberally estimated the nunmber in order to determ ne
the |l evel of financial assurance that should have been provided
by the debtor in connection with his permt. Final Order of Jan.
14, 2000, at | 6.
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conply with all state environmental regulations, and inposed a
$5,000 fine, with an additional fine of $10,000 if the debtor
failed to abide by the consent decree.

| n January 1997, the debt or obtai ned an environnental permt
fromthe State allowing himto collect, process, and haul scrap
tires and operate a scrap-tire collection site. The permt also
required that all scrap tires collected were to be processed and
removed to an end market within 18 nonths.

In March 1998, the District Court of Dixon County held the
debtor in contempt for failing to conply wth state
environmental laws in accordance with the 1995 consent decree.
The court enjoined the debtor fromcausing further environnent al
harmand i nposed a penalty of $10, 000, but offered the option of
paying a reduced penalty if the debtor renoved the tires and
rubber products fromthe site within a certain time period. The
debtor paid $2,500, but did not conpletely conply with the
court’s cl ean-up schedul e. He has not paid the remai nder of the
penalty.

I n Oct ober 1998, the NDEQi ssued an adm ni strative conpl ai nt
and order to the debtor, directing himto conply with the terns
of his permt or properly close the facility. The debtor
requested a hearing before the NDEQ on the matter, which was
held in July 1999.

The State entered a final order in January 2000, revoking
the debtor’s scrap-tire permt and requiring himto renove and
properly dispose of all scrap tires, tire-derived products, and
residuals from the site by My 15, 2000. The debtor did not
appeal this order.

The scrap tires and related materials remain on the
property. The debtor faces the potential inposition of penalties
of up to $1,000 per day for each day the violation continues.

The debtor filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy relief on June 13,
2000, and in anended schedules |listed the State as an unsecured
creditor with a contingent unliquidated claim The State does
not have a judgment for a dollar anount, although the parties
agreed in the admnistrative proceeding that clean-up costs
woul d exceed $800, 000. The State has col |l ected an $85, 000 surety
bond put up by the debtor to indemify the State for clean-up
and cl osure costs. The State has abandoned any claimto recover
the costs of abating the nuisance. It is focusing on future
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fines and contenpt orders and obtaining a finding that the
debtor is not discharged from those obligations or the future
enf orcenent of those obligations.

Di scussi on

The debtor has identified tw factual issues which he argues
woul d prevent the entry of summary judgnment on di schargeability.
One is the formof his business ownership, and the other is his
assertion that the State’'s actions in refusing to approve his
proposed uses of the recycled tires caused his inability to
conply with the environnmental regulations.

That second argunent was raised at the admnistrative
hearing and di sposed of by the final order of the NDEQ “I find
no nmerit to the argunent that Strong cannot find an acceptable
use for tire product. This is clearly the type of risk that any
busi ness venture nust wei gh before undertaking the enterprise[,]
and poor judgnment shoul d not becone the problemof the citizens
of Nebraska.” Final Order of Jan. 14, 2000, at q 7. The Fina
Order was not appeal ed, so its findings stand.

The parties request a decision on two issues of law first,
is the State engaged in the type of effort to enforce police or
regul atory powers that is outside the scope of the automatic
stay pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 8§ 362(b)(4), and second, is any fine,
penalty, or forfeiture owed by the debtor to the State or an
agency thereof the type of debt that is excepted from di scharge
under 11 U.S.C. 8§ 523(a)(7)~?

The State al so suggests that the debtor should be denied a
di scharge of all his debts under 11 U S.C. 88 727(a)(2), (3),
and (4) by allegedly transferring or concealing property and
failing to provide accurate i nformati on concerning his finances.

The debtor agrees that steps should be taken to assess the
probl em and begin abatenent at the site. However, he is no
position to pay for or contribute to the financial costs of the
clean-up operation. He fears that by seeking a denial of
di scharge of this obligation, the State intends to hold him
liable in perpetuity for the balance of the costs.

A 11 U.S.C. § 362(b)(4)

The filing of a bankruptcy petition does not automatically
stay “the commencenent or continuation of an action or
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proceeding by a governnmental wunit . . . to enforce such
governnmental unit’s . . . police and regul atory power, including
the enforcenment of a judgment other than a noney judgnent,
obtained in an action or proceeding by the governnmental unit to
enforce [its] police or regulatory power.” 11 U S. C 8§
362(b)(4).

The | egislative history of this section indicates that when
a debtor is sued by a governnmental unit “to prevent or stop
violation of fraud, envi ronnent al protection, consunmer
protection, safety, or simlar police or regulatory |aws, or
attenpting to fix damages for violation of such a law, the
action or proceeding is not stayed under the automatic stay.” S.
Rep. No. 95-989, at 52 (1978), reprinted in 1978 U S.C.C. A N
5787, 5838; H. R Rep. No. 95-595, at 343 (1977), reprinted in
1978 U.S.C.C. A.N. 5963, 6299; United States v. Commonwealth
Cos., Inc. (In re Commonwealth Cos., Inc.), 913 F.2d 518, 522
(8th Cir. 1990).

| f the purpose of the |law that the governnent is attenpting
to enforce is to pronote public safety and welfare or to
effectuate public policy, 8 362(b)(4) applies. However, if the
purpose of the law is to protect the governnent’s pecuniary
interest in the debtor’s property or to protect private rights,
then 8 362(b)(4) does not apply. See Safety-Kleen, lInc.
(Pinewod) v. Woche, 274 F.3d 846, 865 (4th Cir. 2001);
Commonweal th, 913 F.2d at 523 & n. 6.

State and federal enforcenent of environnmental protection
| aws and regul ati ons agai nst debtors has been all owed to proceed
under 8 362(b)(4) because the primary purpose of such laws is to
pronmote public safety and welfare. See Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U. S.
274, 283 n. 11 (automatic stay does not apply to suits to
enforce the regulatory statutes of the state); Safety-Kleen, 274
F.3d at 865-66 (enforcenment of state financial assurance
regul ati ons al | owed agai nst hazardous waste facility because t he
purpose is to deter environnental m sconduct and pronote safety
in the facility’'s design and operation); City of New York v.
Exxon Corp., 932 F.2d 1020, 1024 (2d Cir. 1991) (governnent al
actions under CERCLA to recover costs expended in response to

conpl et ed envi ronnent al vi ol ati ons are not stayed by
bankruptcy); Commonwealth O | Refining Co.. Inc. v U S Envtl
Prot. Agency (In re Commonwealth Gl Refining Co., Inc.), 805

F.2d 1175, 1186 (5th Cir. 1986) (EPA's attenpt to enforce
cl osure and conpliance order agai nst operator of hazardous waste
site was permtted because enforcenent “falls squarely within
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t he [ governnment’ s] police and regul atory powers”); United States
V. Nicolet, Inc., 857 F.2d 202, 208-10 (3d Cir. 1988) (EPA's
lawsuit to fix and recover costs already expended for clean-up
of hazardous-waste site permtted up to and including entry of
nonetary judgnent).

Enforcenment actions are permtted to proceed even though
conpliance will cause the debtor to spend noney. Commonwealth
Ol Refining, 805 F.2d at 1186. As the Third Circuit has
observed:

Were we to find that any order which requires the
expenditure of noney is a “noney judgnent,” then the
exception to section 362 for governnment police action,
whi ch should be construed broadly, would instead be
narrowed into virtual nonexistence. Yet we cannot
ignore the fundanental fact that, in contenporary
tinmes, al nost everything costs sonething. An
i njunction which does not conpel sonme expenditure or
| oss of nmonies may often be an effective nullity.

Penn Terra Ltd. v. Dep't of Envtl. Res., 733 F.2d 267, 277-78
(3d Cir. 1984).

These decisions indicate that 8§ 362(b)(4) allows the State
to proceed with its efforts to enforce the orders requiring
debtor to clean up the site.

B. Di schargeability
1. 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(7)
To the extent fines and/or penalties have been inposed on
a debtor for violations of state law, such obligations are not

di scharged i n bankruptcy. 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(7); Ohio v. Kovacs,
469 U.S. 274, 284 (1985).

Where a tax penalty is not at issue, three requirenments nust
be nmet before a debt is excepted from discharge under 8§
523(a)(7): (1) there nmust be a debt for a fine, penalty, or
forfeiture; (2) the debt must be payable to and for the benefit
of a governnental wunit; and (3) the debt cannot constitute
conpensation for actual pecuniary |loss. Kentucky Natural Res. &
Envtl. Protection Cabinet v. Seals, 161 B.R 615, 618 (WD. Va.
1993).




Nebraska courts have held that “a fine is an appropriate
sanction in a civil contenpt proceeding so |l ong as the contemor
may avoid the fine by conplying with the court's order.” Jessen
v. Jessen, 567 N.W2d 612, 617 (Neb. Ct. App. 1997) (citing
United M ne Workers v. Bagwell, 512 U. S. 821 (1994)). There is
no suggestion in the present case that the penalty inmosed by
the District Court of Dixon County was intended to be
conpensatory; it appears to have been | evied solely to encourage
t he debtor to conply with the cl ean-up order, and was subject to
reduction if the debtor did in fact conply.

In this case it is undisputed that the fine or penalty
assessed by the District Court of Di xon County is a debt payable
to and for the benefit of a governnental unit. There has been no
assertion that it constitutes conpensation for actual pecuniary
| oss. Accordingly, | find that 8 523(a)(7) excepts that debt
from di schar ge.

Mor eover, any action taken by the State from this point
forward to enforce the environnmental |aws or regulations is not
pre-petition action, is not stayed by the automatic stay or the
di scharge injunction of § 524(a), and relates only to the
debtor’s post-petition obligation to clean up the site. Such
obligation and the financial burden of the cost of clean-up or
fines for failing to take appropriate action are not di scharged
in this case.

2. 11 U.S.C. 88 727(a)(2), (3), and (4)

Inits second anended conplaint, the State all eges that the
debtor failed to tinely provide information to the Chapter 7
trustee regarding the sale of a piece of tire shredding
equi prent for which the debtor is still owed noney. The State
suggests that the debtor nmay have concealed or transferred
property of the estate or of the debtor with the intent to
delay, hinder, or defraud creditors; may have conceal ed,
falsified, or failed to keep information from which his
financial condition and business transactions m ght have been
ascertained; and my have knowingly and fraudulently made a
fal se oath or account or withheld information froman officer of
the estate. For these reasons, the State asserts that the debtor
shoul d be deni ed a di scharge.

These al |l egations require factual devel opnment. A ruling on
themat this tinme would be premature.



CONCLUSI ON

The 8§ 362(b)(4) exception to the automatic stay allows the
State to proceed with its efforts to enforce the orders
requiring debtor to clean up the site.

The fines and penalties that were i nposed on the debtor pre-
petition are excepted from discharge in bankruptcy pursuant to
8§ 523(a)(7).

The bal ance of the assertions by the State that the debtor
should be denied a discharge of all debts is denied on this
record. If the State desires to proceed on such cl aimor clains,
the parties shall file a prelimnary pretrial statenent on those
i ssues in 30 days. Ot herwi se, the determ nati ons nmade herein are
final and the balance of the case nmay be dism ssed upon notion
of either party.

Separate order to be entered.
DATED: Septenber 27, 2002
BY THE COURT:

/[s/ Tinmpthy J. Mahoney

Chi ef Judge
Noti ce given by the Court to:
*W I Iiam How and
*Li sa Buechl er
John Turco
U.S. Trustee
Movant (*) is responsible for giving notice of this order to all other parties

not listed above if required by rule or statute.



I N THE UNI TED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DI STRI CT OF NEBRASKA

IN THE MATTER OF

M CHAEL & MAUREENA STRONG,
CASE NO. BKO0O-81356

Debt or (s) . A00- 8058

)
)
)
)
)
)
STATE OF NEBRASKA ex rel. )
M CHAEL LI NDER, DI RECTOR of the)
NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF )
ENVI RONMENTAL QUALI TY, )
)
Plaintiff, ) CH 7

)

VS. )

)

M CHAEL K. STRONG, )

)

Def endant . )

ORDER

Hearing was held in Omha, Nebraska, on August 15, 2002, on
the Plaintiff's Mdtion for Order of Non-Dischargeability (Fil
#38) and Resistance by the debtors (Fil. #41). John Turco
appeared for the debtor, WIIliamHow and appeared for the State
of Nebraska, and Lisa Buechl er appeared for Nebraska Depart ment
of Environmental Quality.

| T 1'S ORDERED:

The 8 362(b)(4) exception to the automatic stay allows the
State to proceed with its efforts to enforce the orders
requiring debtor to clean up the site.

The fines and penalties that were i nposed on the debtor pre-
petition are excepted fromdischarge in bankruptcy pursuant to
§ 523(a) (7).

The bal ance of the assertions by the State that the debtor
shoul d be denied a discharge of all debts is denied on this
record. If the State desires to proceed on such clai mor cl ai ns,
the parties shall file a prelimnary pretrial statenment on those
i ssues in 30 days. O herwi se, the determ nati ons made herein are



final and the bal ance of the case nay be dism ssed upon notion
of either party.

See Menobrandum filed this date.
DATED: Sept enber 27, 2002
BY THE COURT:

[s/Tinmothy J. Mahoney
Chi ef Judge

Notice given by the Court to:
*W I Iliam How and
*Li sa Buechl er
John Turco
U.S. Trustee

Movant (*) is responsible for giving notice of this order to all other parties
not listed above if required by rule or statute.



